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BISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS, 1o wir :
District Clerk’s-Office.

SE IT REMEMBERED, That on the eleventh day of
April A. D. 1820 in the forty-fourth year of the Independ-
ence of the United States of America, WILLIAM S. SPEAR
of the said District, has deposited in this office the title of 2
Booek the right whereof hie claims as Proprietor in the words
following, to wit

“The Trial of Michael Powars, on an indictment for the
Murder uf Timothy Kennedy : before the Supreme Judicial
Court of Massachusetts, at Boston, April 11, 1820.”

In conformity to the Act of the Congress of the United
States entitled, “An Act for the Encouragement of Learn-
ing, by securing the Copies of Maps, Charts and Books, to
the Authors and Proprietors of such Copies, during the times
therein mentione~,”’ and. alse to an Act entitled, *¢An Act
supplementary to an Act, entitled, An Act for the encour-
agement of learning, by securing the Copies of Maps, "
Charts and Books, to the Aunthors and Proprietors ot sueh
Copies during the times therein mentioned ; and extending
the benefits thereof to the Artsof Designing, Engraving and
Etching Historical and other Prints.” ..

JINO. W. DAVIS, g

Clerk of the Districe
of Massachuse?ts.




TRIAL OF POWARS

Friday, March 31, 182G

SUPREME JUDICIAL COURT.

- PRESENT,
Hon. ISAAC PARKER, L.L.D. Chief Justice.

Hon. GEORGE THATCHER, } f Al
Hon. CHARLES JACKSON, by

Bounsel for the prosecution, PErREZ MorTON, Esq.
Attorney General.—=Counsel for the prisoner
assigned by the Court, DANigL WeBsTER and
WiLrram Simmons, Esquires.

‘The Prisoner was brought into court, and he-

ing called, the Indictment was then read by the
Llerk, as follows s~ |

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS.

Suffolle and Nanbucket, ss.

AT the Supreme Judicial Court, begun and holden af.
Boston, within the said County of Suffolk, and for the said
Counties of Suffolk and Nantucket, on the first Tuesday of
March, in'the year of our Lord One Thousand eight hundred
and twenty.

The Jurors for the said Cnmmonwealth upon their oath
present, that MicHAEL Powawrs, of Boston aforesaid, la-
bourer not having the fear of God before his eyes, but be-
ing,moved and seduced by the instigation of the Devil, on the
2d day of March, 1n the year of our Lord one thousand eight
bundred and twenty, with force and arms, at Boston afore=-
said, in the County of Suffolk aforesaid, in and upon one T1m«
otHY KENNEDY, 10 the peace of said Commonwealih then
and there being, feloniously, wilfully,and of his malice afore.
thought, did make an assault, and that the said Micmarw



<

Powars, with a certain broad axe of the value of one dollar,
which he the said Micuaer PowARrs, in both his hands then
and there had and held, him the said Timoray KENNEDY, In
and upon the back part of the head under the ifeft coronal
guture of him the said Timorny Kexxepy, then and there fel-
oniously, willfully, and of his maliece aforethought, did strike,
penetrate and wound, giving to the said TimorHY KENNEDY,
then and there with a broad axe aforesaid, in and upon the
back part of the head, under the leit coronal suture of him
the said Tinvorey KenxNeEpy, one mortal wound, of the
breadth and width of two inches, and of the depth of two and
and an half, of which said Timoray Kenyepy then and
there 1nstantly died. And so the Jurors aforesaid upon their
oath aforesaid, do say, that the said MrcrAEL PowArs, him
the said Timorny KeENNEDY, in manner and form aforesaid,

feloniously, wilfully and of his malice aforethought, did kil
and murder, against the peace of the C ommonwealth afore-

said, and contrary to the form of the statute 1n such Case
lItade and provided.

A true bill
ARNOLD WELLES, Foreman.

PEREZ MorTon, Attorney General.

Clerk. Michael Powars, What say you to this Indict.
~ ment, are you gulilty, or not guilty ?

Prisoner. Not guilty. ¥

Clerk. How will you be tried? | F
Prisoner. By God and my country,

Clerk.  God send you a good deliverance !

The Court appointed Tuesda}r the eleventh of April, fer
the trial of the Priscner.

Tuesday, April 11, 1820,

Tue Court met at nine o’clock ; MicuarL PowaRss
the prisoner was set to the bar. |

Clerk. Micuaer Powars, you are now set to the
bar to be tried, and these good men, whom I shall call,
are to pass between you and the Commonwealth upon
your trial. If you would object to any of them, you
must do it, as they are called and before they are
sworn.

The jurors were then called, and the prisoner chal~
lenged eighteen peremptorily.

And the follﬂwmg gentlcmen, Were sworn,



JURORS.
ROBERT FENELLY,  §WILLIAM MILLS,
SAMUEL BARBER, JOHN RAYNER,

ANDREW DRAKE, EPHRAIM SNOW,
PHINEAS UPHAM, DAVID SHUTE,
MICHAEL KINNAIRD, §CALVIN SPEAR.

The IxprcTvexT was then read.

Clerk. GentieMeny or THE Jumy. To this Inpice
wenT the Prisoner at the bar, hath pleaded not guilty,
and for tirial hath put himselfupon God and his country,
which country you are. You are now sworn to try the
issue. If he is guilty, you will say so. If he is not
ouilty, you will say so and no more. Good men and
true, stand together, and hearken to your evidence.

Phe ArToRNEY GENERAL in opening, alluded
to the alarming increase of crimes amongst us;
stated that the testimony on the part of the govern.
ment to be adduced, was of that kind called pre-
sumptive,and briefly defined the distinctions be-
twegn positive and presumptive evidence. He then
stated particularly the ease as he expected it would

appear from the witnesses, and proceeded to ¢all
them.

AARON BANCROFT, EROBERT ROGERSON,

Tuomas Bancer, Sworn.

I am a Coroner. On the 5th of March last, I was
ealled to take an nquest on a body in South Russel
street. | summoned a jury. There appeared on the
head maiks of a violent blow. The blow appeared to
have been given. with sufficient violence to knock
down a builock ; certainly with force enough to kill a
“man. The hands, face and clothes much burned.

Question by Court. Was the skull broken by the
wound !

Answer. Yes, very much indeed.

Dr. SHURTLEFF, Sworn, .
I was called to examine the body of Kennedy. 1
found the bosom, face, under side of the hanés and wrist-
g



6

eonsiderably burned. There was a fracture of the

head. The back part of the skull fractured {wo inches

each way. I passed my finger in and felt the brain.

‘The wound appeared to have been made by a blunt in-

strument ; such as; the head or eye of an axe. 'The

fracture was made on the upper part of the parietal
bone, near the coronal suture.

Ques. by Court. Was the wound a heavy one ?
Ans. Yes.

Q. by Court. Was the wound suflicient to produce
death ? |
Ans. Yes. When the body was turned on the
back, some blood flowed from the wound.
Q. by Court. Could you ascertain with any certain-
ty how long since the blow had been given? J#ns. No,

Ques. by Pris. Coun, Might not the blow have been
given by a hammer ?

Ans. 1t might by any blunt instrument of sufficient
size and weight. |

Q. by P. C. Could you say it was an axe ? '

Ans. No, it might have been done with an iron:
~dog ; but more probably with the head of an axe.
JAt. Gen. Have you known Kennedy ? |
Ans. Inever have.

Samves ArrrrTON, Esq. testified,

That Kennedy had lived- with him since July last,.
and continued with him until Thursday, March 24d..
fle did not lodge at his house, but was a daily laborer.
On Friday, March 3d, he found that he had been absent:
the aflernoon before, and that day. On inquiring at his
lodgings on Saturday, found that he had not been seen
there after taking his dinner on Thursday. Mr. A. af-
terwards got a. warrant, and went with Reed the con-
stable to search the house of Powars ; found there Su-
sau-Campbell, much 1atoxicated, and who could give.
them no information. He went a second time to the-
house of Powars and could obtain no informaticn., On-
~ Sunday moraing, he went again to Powars’ house.
Heedicame ‘soon after, and entered the cellar through:
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asmall scuttle over which a barrel was placed. On-the:
side of the scuttle there appeared a spot of blood.
Reed soon called him, telling -him he had found the

body. He went down and saw the body, and it was af-

terwards brought up and examined. He knew the

body perfectly well, and described the wound, as before
by Dr. Shurtleff. He had paid Kennedy at different times-

and always-in the money of the Keene Bank. On the
16th Feb, he paid him a ten and two five dellar bills of
Keene Bank: Owed him at the rate of one dollar a
day from Aug, T7th, except forty dollars paid him
since ; having paid him twenty four dollars on the 7th
Aug. Kennedy was a remarkably faithful, peaceable,
and 1ndustrious man. He could write, and had offered
to keep an account of the work done for Mr. Appleton
by other laborers at a time when he proposed making
a journey.

Pris. Coun. Had Kennedy any income or property
except the money which he received from yeu ?

Ans. Not that I know of. I told him that he receiv-

-ed so little money that he would not have enough to

pay his board- He said he had some other money.

: Georare REeep, Sworn.
On Saturday March 4th, Mr. Appleton sent for me

at Col, Austin’s office. - Mr. Appleton, stated to me

that Kennedy was missing, and Col. Austin thought it
was proper to get a warrant agamst Powars, 1 went to
Justice Gorham’s and got a warrant, and then went to
Powars’ house, but found he was not at home. [ went

again on. Sunday to search for the body. I observed’

some blood on the scuttle. I got a light and stripped
off my clothes and went down cellar.. They handed me

down a pick-axe and shovel, and Mr. Cleesby came-

down to help me. I found blood op-the ground and on
a chip. The cellar was about six feet clear of two tiers
. of wood piled in it. I removed one tier and found the
- earth shuffled up and i%%eemed locse. I then remov-
@d the other tier. Ifound loose earth newly dug
about the size of a grave. I removed the earth il I

-
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found a body. The arm was discovered first. "The¥y.
dy was pulled up and it appeared to be Timothy Kep-
nedy. ‘The face appeared to be burnt. We gotarope.
and lifted the body out of the cellar. '

Ques. by Court, Did you know Kennedy ?

“Ans.  Yes; 1 puat him in gaol at Powars’ suits

€ourt. Are you sure it was he 7

Ans, Yes. : |

Mr. Reed shewed a broad axe to the jury, and point~
€d out specks of blood upon it. | | ”

Reed. The ave appear:d to have been newly washed.
Fhere appea ed to be seme hair wpon- the head of the
axe. ‘L'here is some now.

€Court. Was the closet open ?

Ansg, It was not locked *

Juryman. What was the eolour of Kennedy’s- hair #

Ans. Sandy.

C. for P. Where has that axe been kept

Ans. In the Supreme Court room, under lock and
key.

C- for P. Did you see the axe before you went down
cellar ?

JAns. Yes. Mr. Lancaster saw it first. The blood
on the scutfle induced us to go down

Joun Dosson, Sworn.

Court. Are youa Roman Catholic ?

Ans. Yes. |

Cowrt. Do you feel bound by the oath as wow ad-
ministered ?

Ans. Yes. Istand here tospeak the truth, 1 am.
used to this form of the oath,

At. Gen, What 1s your occupation ?

Ans. T am a Tailor. Kennedy ¢ame into my houze
on Tuesday, to get his coat fized. [t was a black one.
While I was fixing the coat he Jooked at my books.
He said 1 had some which he had never seen, and asked
me to lenrd him some, whichd did. He took twe, and
said he wanted tc see me again on. Thursday particuiarly,
when he would retura the books, and he wished me to
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‘be at home. I live in South Russell street, on the same
side of the way with Powars, and near his house. 1had .
a book in my hand at about a quarter past two o’clock,
arrd was waiting for Kennedy, when I saw Powars pass
shaking his head violently, and just after Kennedy pass-
ed and nodded to me and laughed. They went to-
wards Powars’ house, and turned into his gate, and I
saw nothing more of them. I had some work to do for
a man in Newbury street, and on Friday I carried home
his clothes. His daughter told me, there was a bad
report, and asked me if I knew Kennedy that worked
for Mr. App]et{}n. I said, yes. She told me that he
was dead. 1 was informed that Powars” house had been
searched. On Sunday morning about eight or nine
o’clock, two gentlemen went by my window. They
went into Powars’ house. I went myself to Powars”
house. I saw the body after it was taken up, and koew
it to be Kennedy’s. About a twelve month age, Pow-
ars told me of a concealed place 1 his cellar. In our
own country we sometimes have such places to con-
ceal tobacco and such things to avoid paying duties,

Attorn. Gen. Had Kennely a memorandum book ?

Ans. Yes. He took it from the pocket of his pan-
taloons on the Tuesday when he took the two books. I
have sometimes seen it in his coat-breast-pocket.

Attorn. Gen. Is the book produced the same one,
and did he always carry it ahout with him?

Ans. 1t is the same book. He had it in his pocket
on Tuesday, and took it out to pay me, and took a one
doliar biil out of 1t. | | s
Coun. for Pris. How do you know this is the same
book ? Ty | &

Ans. How do I know ? Do not you think I teke
particular notice of such things? I told Kennedy that
it was not the right kind of pockel book ; he said he
knew it, but it served him. - :

Coun: for Pris. Were your windows open when Pow-
ars and Kennedy passed by ? Jns. No.
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~ Gbum. for Pris. How then did you know that they wené
tato the gate ? | |

Ans. By the waving of their hands, and the flaps of
their coats as they turned. ‘

Coun. for Pris. How far apart were Powars and
Kennedy when they passed ? .
Ang. About five or six yards. They were both in
sight at the same time, My wife said that Kennedy
and Powars were countrymen, and that Powars had
taken Kennedy nfo his honse to give him something te

drink, but that Kennedy would come in presently.
Att. Gen. IJo you know the v lothes now produced ?

Ans. 1 know the ciothes very well as I made them
for Kennedy, and he brought me this waistcoat pat-
te:rn (0 make up, and I advised him not to, and he told
me he had putit into bis chest; I know it by this spot..

The wiiness iwdenified a coat, pantaloons and waist-
coat, by some marks which he peinted out, and said
there were otiier marks which he could explain to a
person in the same business, but which a jury would
not understand. He said he knew his own werk, every
man works in a particular way of his own | |

At. Gen, To Mr. Appleton. Did you make the dega.
cription of the clothes in the advertisement from Mr
Dobson’s account of them ?

Mr. Appleton. 1 did,

The Attorney Gen.reads the advertisement in whick
the description corresponded with the clothes produ-
eed.

Banreara Dogson, (wife of the preceding witness)we
| Sworn. R

On the 24 March, Isaw Mr Powars about 5 o’clock,
come out of his gate with a portmanteau trunk In his
Jeft hand ; and go up the street swinging his arm. He
went up into Myrtle-street. [ have seen him have a
memorandum-book, (the book found with Powars is
shown to her.) This is the book, Kennedy used to have
a tape tied round it. The last time I saw the memorane

dum ook was en. Tudsday. Keanedy opened i, and



it

taok outa bill, which I took to change. 1 wanted fo
see Kennedy on Thursday about some books

P.C. What books ?

Ans. *0O!d Farmers Friend, and ¢¢ A RlCh Cabinet of
Heavenly Jewels.” Tim was very peaceable and rci z-
fous.
' CaTHARINE FERRIS—Sworn.

On Thursday March 2d, I saw Powars about half past
B o’clock in the afternoon. I heard a voice, and locked
out and saw a man buttoning a brown surtout which he
had on. 1t was the prisoner. I live at No. 7, Wharl-
street, in part of the same house in which Mrs. Hewes
lives. T heard a loud talking before [ looked out of the -
window. And the prisoner appeared to have come out
- of Mrs. Hewes’ house and to be agitated. A trunk was
upon the step of the door with him. I saw him take
up the trunk and walk away. Idid not see who he
was speakmg to. m

Sarry HEwes—Sworn.

~ On Thursday 2d March last, Michael Powars
¢ame to my house about half past five o’clock in the

afternoon, and said he was coming to board with me.—

I asked him il he had had any falling out with his old
woman. He said no, but thought he might as well ge

to board. He said that he wanted to go into a room and
shirt him. 1 directed him to a lower room. He said
that would not do, that he wanted to go up stairs. I them
gshewed him into the chamber, in which Kennedy slept.

Powars soon wentaway, and 1 did not see him after-
wards I kept supper waiting, until 9 o‘clock for Ken~
sedy to come home. He did not come, and I supposed.
that he stopped at Mr. Appleton . On Sunday, a young
man came and enquired for him. I examined Kenne-
dy s chest, and found it unlocked, and nothing remain-
g in it but a few old things. Kennedy had a change

of clothes. (Some remnants of clothes were produced
:;1 Court) She said she found those in Kennedy’s

est. | e

Mr. Dessox, was called agam
\
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A. Gen. Dsd you return any remnant with the
clothes of Kennedy ?

Ans. Yes, and those are .the pieces. In my coun-
try it 18 customary to return all remnants.

Pris. Coun. Mrs. Hewes do you know whether Ken-
nedy’s chest was locked on Thursday? JAns. No.

A. Gen. Did Powars know Kennedy’s chest.

Ans.  In all likelihood as the chest came out in the
vessel in which Powars was a passenger. ,

Pris. Coun. Were Powars and Kennedy related {o
each other 7 |

Ans.  Kennedy’s mother was Powars’ cousin.

Evizasern Kerry, Sworn.

Kennedy boarded with me more than a year, he was
of a peaceable and quiet disposition. He had a suit of
clothes made by Dobson. 1 should know them again be-
cause there were pieces fastened on the folds. (Clothes
were produced ;) and she identified them.

At. Did Kennedy keep a memorandum book ?

Ans.  Yes. [The memorandum book shown to
her.] She knew it to be Kennedy’s. Powars came
to her house about five weeks before the murder
and wished her to board him. He referred to Kenne-
dy for his character and said that he was his relation.
At dinner she observed that Powars and Kennedy did
not speak with each other. In the evening, witness
inquired of Kennedy the cause of this reserve. He
said Powars was the old villain that he had a law-
suit with, and had not told the truth. Witness offered
Powars a chamber by himself, and urged him to take 1t,
but he preferred to lodge in the same chamber with
Kennedy, and other boarders. _He lodged there but
one night. Powars came again to Mrs. Kelly’s about
a week before the murder, and asked her if she would
board him again, she told him that she would. In the
course of conversation she told him that Kennedy had
left her, at which he appeared surprised, and asked
where he had gone. He asked her if Kennedy had
paid her, and on her answering in the affirmative, he
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said he was glad of it, for he was a singular character.
ila asked her if Kennedy had any money. Witness
answered that she did not know, Yowarsthen sat and
scemed thoughtful, looking in the fire for a few min-
utes and then went hastily out of the .room. He did
not refurn then to board. Mrs. Kelley also swore fo
several articles of cloathing as belonging to Kennedy,
which were produced by Reed, having been taken by
Liim, trom Powars’ chest. Hog 8

i Svsan CavpeELL, Swora. :

I ived in the houa‘se*with Powars. I went to Mr.
French’s on Thursday in the forenoon, and returned
in the afternoon, and found Powars at home. .

At. Gen. What was Powars doing ?

Ans. He was putting a few things into a pack—the
pack was already made up. He said he was gomg to
iobile, where he had some months before gaid he was
going. He went out early in the morning on Friday,
and said he should refurn to -breakfast. 1 waited fcr
him unfil nine o’clock, but he did not come home.

At. Gen. Did you ever hear Powars make usge of any
threats ? - | e " thah

Ans. He had said he would be revenged ; I do not
know that he mentioned any particular persen. -

[Witneass was asked who owned a trunk which was
produced in court. She said 1t was hers.  Mrs, Dobson
was called again, and said it was the same trunik she
gaw Powars carrying under his arm on Thursday.

At. Gen. When you returned on Thursday di! you
observe any remarkable appearance about the ho se ?
| Ans. No. The ashes were scattered a little abo::{ the
fire-place, and 1 did not find some scouring cloths which
I left in the house. |

C. for P. Were there any curtains ?

Ans. Yes.

~ C. for P. Did you not take them down uafew days
“before to wash ? | B
- Ans. No. They were up on Thursday.
C. for P. Did they cover the whole windcw ?
. 2 & -
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Ans. Only the lower half.

P. C. Is the room lower than the ground :

Aps. Yess it 18 very much exposed. |

P. C. Did you not buy new curtains ?

Ans. Yes; on Thursday. |

' At. Gen. Was the door loched when you returned on
Thursday ?

Ans. It was; and Powars let me in. There were no
steps to the cellar through the scuttle, and I never
saw any body but Powars go down. He used to bring
ap my wood. |

P. C. Didyou not take down the whste curtains
on Thursday ?

Ans. Ithink I did; but cannot remember.

At. Gen. Did you see a pick-axe ?

Ans. I did on Thursday. Powars said he borrowed
it of Mr. Taylor to break up the ice in the yard.

At.Gen. Did he break up théice ?

Ans. No.

P. C. Was Powars d:ecomposed on Thursday ?

Ans. No. He slept as usual.

P. C. Did he always sleep at home,

Ans. Yes.

P.C. Was the broad-axe ever used to cut meat.

Ans. Yes. ‘Both by myself and by Powars.

Tuomas Frexcu, Sworn.

Thursday 2d March, Susan Campbell was at my
house ; she came about 11 o’clock in the morning and
staid an hour and a half'; took 1 and went out shoppmg :
she returned before dinner and staid until 5 o’clock.
In answer to several questions from the prisoners coun
sel, Mr, I'rench described particularly the situation of
the house and cellar and stated that the partition which
separated the cellar of Powars, from the one adjoining.
was as good as common, and could not n his opinion be
easily removed. | |
WiLriam Tavror, Sworn.

-1 own the bouse in which Powers lived ; there is »
a small scuttle in the house about two f{ect squaig.
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which was not there when Powars took possession ef
the house—heard Powars in April last, speakiug of a
law-suit with a relation of his from Ireland ; he seem-
ed very much dissatisfied with the result of the law-
suit, and said that he would have satisfaction, and
would be revenged. He asked witness in May to go
with him to Mr. Parker his lawyer. Mr, Parker offer-

ed him some money, $13, he took it and gave a re-
ceipt, still saying that he would have satisfaction.

Witness went to Mr. Fuller’s with him, and Mr. Fuller
said all was right. Powars borrowed of witness a pick-
axe, February 23d to-break the ice in his yard, as he
said ; which he did not return.

Pris. Coun. What is his general character ?

Ans.  He 18 temperate and industrious. He lived in
my house four years, except a temporary absence. I

never knew any thing amiss in him.
Wim. Lancaster. Powars worked for me in 1817 ;
he made a voyage to Ireland, and returned 1n 1818. He

said that he brought two men with him, one of which:
was Kennedy, and that he had lent them money. I
had understood that he had a law-suit with Kennedy—
! asked him if he had settled with Kennedy ; he said
he had, and that he would have satisfaction, and could
take a horse and get off, from any trouble in conse-
gquence of it. 1 do not remember the exact expres-
<ston8 which he made use of ; |1 advised him to use cau-

tion. When I heard of Kennedy’s murder, the threat-
ening langnage of Powars occurred to me. 1 saw the

axe in his house, and first discovered marks of blood
en it and on the scultle ; there was a barrel over the
scuttle full of chips. Mr. Reed went down the scuttle
with another man, and picked up a chipin the cellar.

Pris, Coun. How long since thege threats ? |

Ans. 1 believe that | heard them the first of the
year 1819.

Pris. Coun. 'What is the general character of Pow-
ars 7 Jins. That of an indusirious, eeber man. I have
known him ten er twelve years.
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_ Davip Kerry, Swora.

Powars induced three yonug men,of whom Kennedy
was one, to come out from Ireland with him, and they
became indebted to him for their passage money, and
for some money lent. I made unsuccessiul attempts to
produce a settlement between them. Some months
ago, after a decision by a referee, Powars told me he
would sne Kennedy and put him in gaol if I would not
bail him, for Kennedy had no other friends, and Pow-
-ars oftered me ten dollars if I would not be his bail. 1
told him it was unreasonable, and I put him in mind of
a private oath he had taken to abide by the award of
‘the referee.

Joseru KiNasLey, Sworn.

I heard Powars say he meant to have satisfaction of
Kennedy. I supposed he meant to whip him or some-
thing of that kind. He said he had been wronged in
has law suat,

Samver D. Parger, Sworn.

October 5th, 1818, Powars applied for three writs,
ene of them against Kennedy for twenty dollars lent
him, to pay his passage from Ireland. T'he other writs
were against two persons by the name of Mc’Daniel
for similar cause of action. Kennedy was committed to
gaol. 'The action against him was entered, and Cel.
Austin appeared in his defence. T'here was no evi-
dence on either side, and the parties agreed to re-
ferit. An award was made that Powars should pay
Kennedy five dollars and twelve cents, which award
was accepted by Mr. Minot. Powars refused to pay
the sum awarded, upon which Col. sustin brought an
action on the award, before Mr. Minot and the action
was carried into the Court of Common Pleas by appeal.
The referees were then examined, aad Col. Austin
was convinced the action would not be sustained.
Colonel Austin -and myself agreed to dismiss the ac-
tion, and have nothing to do with it personally. On
the 7th of May, Powars expressed dissatisfaction at the
result.

€oun. for Pris. Was Powars’ claim unfounded
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Ans. 1 do mot think it was.

Thomas Philpot, Esq. Had heard Powars say some
time in Oct. last, that he had been down in town about
a law suit—that Kennedy owed him forty dollars. = He
said he was afraid that he should lose it, and he would
be revenged on Kennedy. If he did not pay hun
he would murder him. 1 fold him that would be
cutting off his nose to spite his face. He said he did

pot care, he would murder him.
James Vinal sworn. I saw Powars in Bowdein-square,

about a month or six weeks since ; we walked together.
He acked me if I knew Kennedy. I told him that I did.
He said Kennedy was a rascal-—that he had loaned him
money, which had not been repaid, and he would kil
mim 1f he could get a chance.

Mpre. Mary Fowle sworn. Lives in a part of the house
which the prisoner occupied.  Was at home all Thurs-

day. Heard no noise in Powars’ apartment, aud did not
see himgo in or out. Witness hag &5 children. A week
or ten days before 2d March, Susan Campbell came honie

«nd could not open her door. | looked and found the
key was ‘imside. She called Powars by name several
times, and asked him to open the door. At length he
same (from the cellar as my daughter said,) and opened
the door.

Court. s there an entry between your house aad
Powars’. JAns. Yes.

Coun. for Prisoner. W}fat is the partition in the

~ gellar made of ?
fins. Pieces of boards not fastened at the tOp

Mary Ann Fowle, 13 14 years old. Was at home on
the 2d March. Did not see Powars. Some days ago
Susan Campbell camé home and could not unfasten her
door., My mether looked and found the key was on
the incide, After a shortumel looked through the
key hole, and saw Powars come up from the.cellar,
threvgh the scuttle, and set the hght on the fleor. He

pmen oycncd the door,
A
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Jonatran Fowre, jr. Esq. Sworn.

In the afternoon of the 15th of March, my brother,
George M. Fowle told me he had found Powars, and
asked me what he should do. 1 directed him to ob-
tain a warrant from Alderman Badger, and a constable,
and arrest him immediately. He hesitated at first a-
bout doing any thing. 1asked him if he was sure it was
Powars ? He said he was pretty sure. 1 told him to
be certain of that before he arrested him, and I would
wait at Alderman Badger’s office until he came up.
Michael Powars was arrested at Philadelphia on the
15th March last. Scmetime after Powars was brought
in to Ald. Badger’s by M’Masters and Melliman, folloyw-
ed by George. 1undertook to examine him, and in an-
swer to a number of questions put to him by me, and
some by the Magistrate, he said that his name was Mi-
chael Powars, that he had lived in several places in
Boston, and last in South-Russell street. 'TI'hat he knew
Suvsan Campbell, that he had reason to know her,
for he had lived with her 12o0r 14 years,
though she was not his wife. 'That he left Boston the
latter end of February, travelled on foot to Providence,
where he remained about 24 hours, and then took
passage in a vessel for Philadelphia, where he arrived
~the day before he was arresied. 1 askedhim if he
knew Timothy Kennedy. He answered “yes” ¢« did
vou bring him over to this country from Ireland, and
pay for his passage 77 ¢« Yes.”” ¢ Did you sue him af-
terwards for the money 77 ¢ Yes.”? Did you recovs
‘er any thing on the suit 2”7 I dont know, Squire Park-
er had the care of it. Inever gotany thing.” Kave
you had a quarrel with Kennedy ! ¢ No, I have had
a law suit with him, but no quarrel.” 1 then aszed
him when he saw him last ? He said he did not know.
I repeated the question —He was somewhat confused—
said the last time he saw him was about a ‘ortnight be-
fore he left Bosten. = Did yousee iim the day before
vou left Boston ? ¢ No—Alderman Badger who had
been reading a panor inydrother brought in, said ‘Mich-

N i
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ael, Timothy Kennedy was at your house the very day
before you left Boston, he wasseen to goin.” To
- this Powars made no reply. I then said, Michael, Ken-
nedy has been murdered, and you are charged with
having murdered him. He seemed alarmed, but not
surprised at the accusation, answered instantly, thougn
in a low tone of voice, that he was not guilty ; that
no man living could prove it.

I told him the proofs were very strong against him.
He said again I am not guilty” 1 then told him S. Camp-
bell was in jail; upon which he said, with great quick-
" ness, she has no right to be there. “Why 7’ “Because

she has no right to be there”—* Why ?”” ¢ She never
did any thing wrong.” ¢ Who has a right to be in
jail 7 He hesitated, but said he did not know. I said
that probably befo: - that time Susan Campbell has told
the whole story about the murder. He said quickly,
she can’t, no person living can prove it.”> Alderman
Badger said, * Michael, I believe you have killed Ken-
nedy.” Powais answered, ** I am sorry you have =o
bad an opinion of me, sir.”? Alderman. “I'mustsend
you back to Boston” -Powars. * What for?’ Alder-
‘man. “ Totake your trial for this murder.” At this
information, Powars became frightened, and agitated,
and the teairs came into his eyes. He turned suddenly
round, stepped quickly across the room, and took a seat
on the settee. 1 directed the officers to search him.
They did so, and found an old razor in his pocket, an
old silver watch in his fob, some money in bank notes,
and silver, and a number of guineas sewed up in the
back part of his suspenders. He said there were 104
in the whole, and that he took them ¢ut of the-Savings
Bank the day before he left Boston. He appeared to
be very unwilling to part with his money, aithough |
told kim it shouid be taken care of. One of the con-
stables was obliged to cut his suspenders, in order to
get them off.  Powars paid his landlord 75 cents for’
his lodging, &c.and was then committed to pricen. The
effice - said they would go after his chest. The next
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day they showed me a large red one n Alderman B's
office, as belonging to Powars, which I opened, found
the memorandum book, and other things, and which is
the same chest that I opened in the presence of Pow-
ars at the prison on the twenty fourth, and which
Powars claimed at that time with its centents. I asked
him if he had laid in some wood just before he left Dos-
ton ? He said no, at first. Afterwards he said he had
some pine wood. Iasked him when he got it? He said
some time last summer. ¢ How mnch did you lay in at
that time 27 ¢ 1 don’t know.”” ¢ Was there one cord or
16 7 “ 1 dont know ; it was more than one cord.”
“Did you buy any more during the winter 7 S Np
 Did that last you all winter?”’  After some hesita-
tion, he said, *“ No.” “Didyou live part of the winter
without a ﬁre in your house 7’ ¢ No.”

March 23, Reed arrived at Philadelphia. I went
with huin to the prison ; asked Powars if he wanted
any thing and how he fared ? He said he fared very
well, but he wanted a clean'shirt. 1 told him I would
sndeavor to get it for him. He asked Reed if he was
come after him, &c. On the 24th March, I sent Powars’
chest to the prison. Powars came in, and [ told
him that I had brought his chest that he might change
himself and asked him what he wanted ? He said a
slean shirt and cravat. I proceeded to open the chest,
Powars appeared to be in a great hurry and offered to
assist me. I asked him if he brought the chest from
Boston. He said no, he bought it in Providence. When

- the chest was opened | permitted him to take out such
*things as he pleased. Without looking for a shirt, he

t00k the hat,blue coat, pantaloong, and wustcoat, (whlch
the witness ldentlﬁt,d the same sworn to by Dobson)
and put them in a great hurry into the fire-place. He
put his own hat mmto the chest, and covered it with the
blanket. 1 took out a shirt and gave him. He began

10 atrip in order to put op the blue clothes and Walﬂ‘.
%
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coat. 1 asked him what he was going to do ? and he
said he was going to put them on. All this time his
hands shook, he appearedto be ina great hurrv and
considerably agitated, 1told him that he wanted only a
shirt and cravat, but he said he wanted all the things
be had taken out. He had-taxen off s surtout m a
great hurry, in order to put on the blue coat. 1 then
told him he must not have them, and desired him to
put them into his chest again. The coatl think he
had put on, I made him take 1t oft again. "T'he keep-
er Deacon who was also present during the whole
time, told him his clothes were good enough for the
prison, and betier ones would be spoiled. He was re-
luctant to return them, when I told him positively that
he should take nothing but a shirt, and cravat. He
then put the hat, coat, &c. in haste into the chest, and
covered them as well as he could with the blankets, as
if he was desirous of concealing them from our view.
He retained a shirt and black cravat. 1 repeatedly
asked him if'all his things were there, and if any thing
was missing 7 He said they were all in the chest,
and he did not miss any thing. Before he put the
clothes back, I told him to try on the biue coat. I want-
ed to see how he looked in it.”” He did so, & it was both
too long & too large for him. The sleeves in particular
were much too long for him. After he had put them mto
the chest, I took up the coat, and asked him where he
oot it? 'He said he bought it at auction. Iu answer to
similar guestions about the “hat, pantaloons and waist-
coat, he said he bought them. 1 asked him it those
clothes ever belonged to Timothy Kennedy. He said
no—I{e afterwards said, Kennedy had given him a pair
of pantaloons, but when I asked where they were ? he
gaid he did not know, I asked him if he did notgo down
to Kennedy’s boarding house just before he left Bos-
ton? He said he went there two or three days before.
| asked him what his business was there. He said he
_went there to shirt himself. I asked him if he could not

shirt himsell at home? No. Why ? Because I hadno shirt
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there. 1 asked him ifhe found & shirt at Kennedy's
houge ¥ He said no. Where did he get it ? He took
it with bim in a small trunk. He'also said something
about his T'aylor, but I do not recollect. Ithen shew-
ed him the memorandum book, which I took out of his
chest unobserved by him, and asked him if that ever
belonged to Timothy Kennedy ? Ie became confused,
and his voice faltered as he answered in the affirmative.
“ How came it in your possession 7’7 ¢ Kennedy gave it
to me:** When 77 ¢ This last fall, we boarded together
at the time.” “Did you not take this out of Kernedy’s
trunk just before you left Boston #” ¢ No.” Ishewed
him the $10 note, and asked him how he came by that ?
He said, Kennedy gave it to him for a. debt; which
he omed him. He thenturned round and stepped quickly

to the other end of the room, as if to,avoid further cen-
varsation on the subject. Recovering himself a hitle,

ke turned round and asked me if Reed had coeme on
after him, whether he should be hand-cuffed, &c. T
then asked him if he had made a trap door in the floor
of his house. He said, ¢ yes,” % what for 77 {o throw
his wood down, which he could not do before,. without
going through another person’s house : I asked him if
te had been digging in. his cellar just before he left
Boston. Me answered no. If he had an axe in his
bouse ! He said he had two. [ then told him the body
of Kennedy was found buried in his cellar. He said it
must have been done after he came away, and says he,
“ if he got an unlucky blow it was not for his money, for
ke hed not any, I knew he was poor.” 'This he repeat-
ed several times. [ never had told him of the manner
of Kennedy’s death, He said also, * 1 never Killed
him, what should I kill him for, | knew lie had’nt any
money.” I1old him ke had had a quarrel with him,
He said he had had a law-suit with him, but it was all
made up before he left Boston, and he and Kennedy
had boarded together. IHe said several times he was
not guilty of the murder, and that no man living couid
prove 3, ke defied any man to prove it against him. In
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answer to some other questions, he faid he had ceer
Kennedy some time before he had left Boston, he
would not tell how long before, that he did not see him
the day before, ner was Kennedy at his house on that
day. 'That he left Boston because he had nothing to
do and business was dull, that he was going to Ireland
to lay brick, and had engaged a passage on board the
¢hip Howard for Dublin. He appeared to be appre-
hensiye that he should lose some of his property, but I
assured him, that every thing belonging to him would
be taken good care of and sent to Boston. Some >sther
conversation took place, which 1 de not recollect. He
wag not tied or chained in the prlson, but was suffered
to mix with the other prisomers -

At 2 o’clock, the Court adjourned. At a quarter past
3, the trial proceeded. 'The Attorney General called
the attention of the Court and Jury te the circumstance
that the charges in the memorandum book, were in
uniform hand writing, and continued to the 19th Feb.

Mr. Simmons on the part of the Prisoner called wit-
nesses.

Wyatt Richards sworn. I have known the prisoper
for a year past. [ heard him say some time last fall, that
he intended to go to Ireland in the sprirg. le wasa
‘sober, and industrious man, peaceably disposed. I am
an apprentice to Calvin Page.

Calvin Pase sworn. [ have known the prisoner
10 or 12 yeam I have employed him almost every
season. His business is attending upon masons. I have
always confided in bim as an bonest man., He is
industrious and sober. I have heard him talk about -
leaving this country. Fe speaks very quick, but is not:
-gf a passionate temper that 1s as far as I have observed
UM,



24

Mr. SIMMONS opened the defence in an argument that

occupied an hour and an half :—He eammenced by adverts
ing to the difficulty and arduousness of the duty assigned by
the Court to the Counsel on the part of the prisoner. The
impressions on the public mind relative to his guilt, and the
fatal effect it might have on the issue—and the importance
of giving him a dispassionate trial. He admitied it was in-
contestibly proved, that Kennedy came te his death between
Thursday morning the second of March-—and the Sabhath
following—and that the death was the result of violence
from some one.  The question before the Jury was, did
the prisencr at the bar inthct the wounds which caused his
death. Ifhe did, he was guilty of the most savage, and un-
provoked murder, recorded in the annails of criminal juris-
prudence, without apology or paliation, That it was a crime,
to commit which he could have no motive. The deceased
had acquired no property to be plundered or inherited, and
hil remuval wculd not aid him in the accomplishment of an"
object. He then adverted to the general character of the
prisoner, as furnishing stron%_ presumption in his favo up.e
His daye had been honestly laborious, and his nights dedi-
cated to repose. The fruit of twenty years labour in this
country, had placed him beyond the temptation of poverty,
and temperance had stood centinel over his passions; that
viliaiay was progressive, and it was coutrary to experience
and the human character, that the prisoner should plunge in-
to the depth of profligacy precipitately, and at once. Here
was no gradation ; if he was guilty, he had overlept all the
intermediate steps, and pagsed from one extreme to the othor
in 2 moment—an anomaly in the Human character. If the
prisoner was capable of such a crime, Kennedy wonld not
be the probable object of it. They were relatives ; the prie-
oner had brought Kennedy to this country, and must feel
that he stoad in the place of a guardian and protector. From
these relations, natural and acquired, no one could anticipate
that Kennedy would fall by the hand of Powars.

No one saw the fatal blow given. The Jnry were called
on to infer the time, place and person, from the other facts
proved ; that it becane necessary, therefore, to advise them
of the rules of evidence. He then proceeded to state to the
Jury the principles of evidence appliable to the case, and to
read passages from the Books on circumsiantial evidence,—~-
He then proceeded to consider the circumstancesin t'e cage
velied on by the government, as sufficient to establish the
fact of the prisoner’s guilt. . He first considered the subject
of previous threats, and contended, that the threats proved
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‘were but the eommon language of litigants in a mement o §

irritation ; that had Kennedy lived, no such import would
‘ever have been given'them; ‘that the term ¢ satisfaction,”
‘was the one testified by most of the witnesses to have been
“msed by the prisener, and that never imported an intent of
dodily harm, except in the mouths of men, falsely called men
-of honour ; that to imply a deadly purpose,words must be cool,
deliberate and explicit, such as indicate a heart Tfatally
bent on mischief. Two witnesses only testified to words of
such import ; one when the prisoner was intoxicated, ao
‘event as unusual, as the utterance of the expression. He
mext remarked on the prisoner’s flight ; that to be evidence
of guilt, it must appear to have resulted frem it, by being re-
‘referrible to no other probable cause; that his intention fo
leave the town had heen long fixed, and deelared to various
“persons al various times, from last fall, to the time of his de-
parture, and that he had assigned adequate motives for 1t.—
"His departure, therefore, and Kennedy’s disappearauce,
pught to be viewed as an accidental coincidence.

He them drew the attention of the Jury to the discoveries
made at the Prisoner’s house, and remarked, that the place,
the time, and the fatal instrument, were supposed to be
-@learly proved by the discoveries there. They were made
by persons strongly impressed with a belief of Powars’ guilt,
and ready to yield to the slightest presumptions. Blood
was supposed te be found on the axe and scuttle ; they were
of course inferred to be the blood of Kennedy. e asked,
who by the eye, without any surer test, would presume to
discriminate between the stain of blood and that of other
substances in domestic use ? and whoso rash as to attempt to
distinguish the difference between the blood of man and
‘beast ? The axe was proved to be in frequent use for chop-
ping meait, | | $53

~ If he was killed by the prisoner, it was in the prisoner’s
zoom, and af the fire; there must have been agreat effusion
of blood, leaving the fleor strongly marked from the firo te
the gcuttle. It was improbable the prisoner ever washed
it up, or he would not haye left the marks on the axe and
scuttle. ‘He next contended this room was the most
improbable place, to select for the perpetration of the erimeg
that detestion in the very act wasto be expected. The sup-
rﬂsi}iﬁn was inconsistent with the supposed deliberate mae
igaity of the prisoner. There were two windows on the
gtreet, snd one in the yard, and shutters not closed © every
éhject and transaction exposed to the gaze of all that pass-
ed. In ‘he next room was a woman and five children, sl the
#fternoon. On the opposite smide of the street, were twtf
3




three story houses, overlooking the transactions in the pris-
oner’s room. If the prisoner committed the murder, it was
between half past two and five o’clock of this afternoon, sur-
rounded by such imminent danger of detection. No noise
“was heard by these in the adjoining room. He contended, if
it were possible, to shew another might haye deposited the
bedy in the cellar, it oughtto outweigh this rash presumption,
and stated how it might be done.  The cellar doors on the
backside of the house could be opened from without, the
partition between the two cellars, of the slightest kind, be
partly removed, and the body deposited where it was found3
or two pieces of plank, slightly nailed, as an underpioning
to prisoner'scellar, removed, and a passage of four feet by
two was mude direct into his cellar. He argued tbat mo-
tives were not wanting for this act—that the supposed exist-
ence of a quarrel between Powars and Kennedy would sug-
gest the measure to divert suspicion from them and fix 1t on
Powars. The Counsel then proceeded to notice the cir-
eumstance of the finding of the clothes of the deceased 1n
the prisoner’s possession, and contended there was no pos-
itive testimony, that they were taken from the trunk of
Kennedy, for there was none, they were in it, at the time of
his disappearance ; that there was no proof ef their identity,
#t rose no higher than proof of similarity ; and argued that
the conduct of Powars, in relation te the clothes, at Fhila.
deiphia, showed a consciousness of their being bis own ; that
the same reasoning applied to the memorandum book and
the bank bill, that there was no proof of the hand writing of
the deceased in the book. If the prisoner’s declarations
were offered, as evidence the whole must be taken. But if
ghe Jury were satisfied they were stolen, and that they were
the clothes of Kennedy, the murder was nol a necessary iD=
ference. It was one circumstance. As to the prisoner’s
supposed confessions, and false declarations at Philadelphia,
he remarked that they ought to weigh little against bun3
thet innocence, when suspected loses its confidence, and
sometimes exhibits the marks of guilt, and quoted the re-
mark of Lord Mansfield, that ¢ it is no uncommon thing
for a man to defend a good cause by foul means, or fulse
pretences.” |

p He commented upon a variety of other circumstances
whioh appeared in evidence, and cited and alluded to a
number of cases in this country and England, where persong
had been convicted on circumstantial evidence, and the
fatal error discovered too late. He coneluded with some
general remarks, upon the nature of the evidence ; and the
solemn duties the Jury owed to the prisoner and the gome~

munity-



2F

The narrow limits, in which it has been found necee-
sdry to confine the account of this trial, prevents our
giving any thing more than a very brief abstract of the
arguments of Counsel, and the charge of the Chief Jus-
tice. In making it, we hawe availed ourselves in part
of a comprehensive report, published by the Editor of
the Daily Advertiser. |

Mr. WessTeR followed in the defence. He said he had
Little to add to what had been said by his colleague. He
said that the facts stated on the part of the government
were not doubted ; the only question was on the infer-
ence from these facts, If there was any defect in the
series of circumstances against the prisoner the jury
must acquit. ‘L’he prisoner has a right to a charitable
construction of the circumstances proved. The jury
should not yield to the impression produced by the a-
trocity of the crime charged. It is natural that when
guch 2 crime has been committed there should be g
strong bias against the person suspected. After further
general remarks, he proceeded to comment on some .
of the prominent facts of the case proved. The cir~
cumstance of the body being found in the prisoner’s
cellar was not conclusive, because there were other
possible modes of access to the cellar, besides that
through his room. The coincidence of the day when
Powars left town, with that on which the murder was
committed, is not conclusive. It was proved that he in-
tended to go on some day, it was as likely to be on that
day as any other. The threats which were relied on
as proof, were not consistent with the coolness shown
when the crime was committed, if committed by him.
He remarked upon the finding of the clothes upon
Powars, which he contended were not fully identified,
unless by the testimony of a single witness. He re-
quested the jury to consider how much of the testimony
depended upon the accuracy of Dobson in his statee
ments in respect to the passing of Powars and Kennedy
together, the identity of the clothes, §&c. He com-
mented upon the finding of the memorandum book, and
bank bill, upon Powars. He remarked upon the chars-
@cter and habits of the prisoner—upon the want of mae

%
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{ive to commit the erime—upon the threatening lan~
guage for being irritated in a law suit—upon the expo-
sure of Powars’s room to observation, &c. He remind-
ed the jury of the inconclusiveness of the circumstances,
and the claims of the prisoner to a charitable and con-
scientious consideration. 'T'hese are but brief hints of
the cour<e of argument of the learned advocate.

During the argument of Mr. Websier, much noise was
heard from the erowd about the door. In purstance of dis
rectious from the Court, a young man, who appeared to be
one of the foremost in producing the disturhatice, was bro’t
in, 2nd ordered to recognize with a surety in the stm of 100
dollars, for his appearance tomorrow, to answer fer a con-
tempt of Court, and 1n defauit of a surety> to be ecommitted.

The Attorney General, i closing the cause, call-
ed the aitention of the jury to the circumstances that
appeared in evidence : That he was seen with Kenne-
dy the last time the latler was ever seen ; that they en-
tered together the house of Powars; that the latter
~eame out alone, a few hours after ; that the body of
Kennedy was found in his cellar,in a secret grave ; that
he proceeded to commit an additional felony mn plun-
dering Kennedy’s trunk ; and that the suspicion aris-
-ing from these circumstances was confirmed by his
flicht, and by the result of his examination in Phiiadel-.
phia. The Attorney General stated the dilemma 1n
which the prisoner stood; that he was either in the
house at the time, and if so, commiited the murder or
was accessary to it, or he’ was not there, and then he
was bound to prove tbat he was not. T'he Aitorney
General argued that the revengeful spirit and avari-
cious temper which Powars discovered were sufficient
motives to be supposed to have anfluenced him
He quoted the maxim of the law, fatetur fucinus qur ju-
ducoum fugit ; and stated the imposibility of imagining
any other person, who could have committed the crime,
upited with the other eircumstances to fix guilt on the.
prisoner. ‘I'he Attorney General specified as damn-
ing circumestances, the discovery of Kennedy’s clothes
1nthe chest of Powars and the memorandum book of
KKennedy n his possession. 'The Attorney General ex-
pressed his apinion, that the circumstances detailett
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amounted to a chaiir of proo f'stronger than the testimoe
ny of half a dozen witnesses ; and concluded by warn-
ing the jury not to betray the interests of socicty in a
mistaken zeal to protect those of the prisoner. |

The attorney General having closed his remarks, the
Prisoner was informed by the Court that he was at lib-
erty to make any statement that he wished in his own
favor. Upon this the Prisoner stated in a confused
manner, and in a strong foreign accent, that Kennedy
gave him the pocket book the Monday hefore he left
Boston ; that he (Powars) had bought and paid for the:
clothes, down by the market ; that Kennedy had giv-
en him seventeen dollars, at the same time that he
gave him the pocket book..

Chief Justice Parxer, then charged the jury. He:
entered Into a minute recapitulation of the evi-
dence, accompanying it with remarks calculated to
place it in a proper light. He observed that there
was an unusual simplicity in the cause, and no questions:
of law to perplex the minds of the jury, the issue be-
g confined to the single question of fact. |

He observed to the jury, that the absence of motives
to commit this crime on the part of Powars, had been
urged to them as a reason for acquitting him. It is not
always possible, however to arrive at the motives of
humanactions, nor when a crime is committed was it ne--
cessary that they should be satisfied what were the mo-
tives that led to it. Different men act with more
or less disguise, and some are influenced by considera~
tions which would have no effect upon others. But in:
this case, evidence had been offered to them of a law suit:
with Kennedy in which Powers was unsuccessful, and
the feelings which it had excited, were expressed in
threats, and declarations of a determination to be reveng--
ed. Menaces of this kind are generally indeed words:
of passion, and may not be followed by the commission:
of any crime ; but when the  deed threatened actually:
takes place, they assume another character..

The Chietf Justice, explainedto the jury, the nature:
of circumstantial evidence, and cautioned them against:
being misled by the result of one or two cases in as many



centuri es, 1n which the innocent had been convicted on
circum stantial evidence. He alluded to the cases of
the Uncle and Ward, and that of the Boorns in Vermont,
which had been cited by the Prisoner’s counsel ; and
observed that each of those cases differed essentially
from the present, there beingin those no suthicient evi-
dence of the death of the person supposed to be mur-
dered. He stated that the proper use of such cases was
to impress the minds of the jury, with the necessity of
caution, and not to induce them to acquit the guilty.

- The jury retired at half past 8—and returned in
about twenty minutes with a verdict of GUILT'Y.

Wednesday, April 12.

At 10 o’clock the court was opened, and the prisoner,
Michael Powers was set to the bar

‘L'he Attorney General rose and addressed the Court
as tollows :

May 1t please your Honoyys—

the body of Timothy Kennedy. On this indictment he
has been arraigned at the bar of this Court, and on his
~arraignment he pleaded not guilty; sufficient time was
allowed him to prepare for his trial, and Counsel

learned in the law, of his own choice, were assigned to
aid himin his defence. A traverse jur

| | _ y of bis own selee-
tion, from the venire returned, were sworn and 1mpan-
nelled to try the issue hetween the

_ ry Commonwealth and
him. 'This jury, after hearing the evidence produced

on the part of government, and the arguments of his
counsel in his defence, have returned thejr verdict, that
- be is guilty ; and this verdict has been affirmed and
¥ecorded.
By a statute of this Commonwealth {he punishment
_ aflixed to the commission of this offence is praTH. 1
therefore move your Honours that the sentence of
DEATH be now passed upon the prisoner, asa just

retribution for the erime, of which he stands conmvic-
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- The Chief Justice then addressed the prisoner, and
told him that if he had any thing to say before the sen-
tence of the court was passed upon him, he might now
say it : TR e i

The prisoner, in a rapid, agitated, and an-
gry manner, said, ¢ I think the court very
dishenorable. 1 am not guilty. [t has not

been proved that I am guilty. 1If there was
one witness that (Freved that Fam guilty, I

sheuld be satisfie May 1t please your hon-
ours, I am dissatisfied.” .

SENTENCE

CHIEF JUSTICE,
MICHAEL POWARS ! *

~ YOU now stand convicted, after a full and fair trial,
of the wilful murder of Timothy Kennedy. You have

been permitted to avail yourself of all the privileges

which the humane laws of the country allow to those

who are put upon {rial for their lives, You have hadable
and faithful Counsel assigned by the Court at your re-
quest to aid you in your defence, and they have present-
ed to the Jury every consideration which could have a
favourable tendency upon your case. From the whole
body of jurors returned to serve at this Conrt you se-
lected those to whom you were most willing to commit
the solemn issue. "Their verdict is the necessary and
unavoidable result of the clear and convincing evidence
submitted to their consideration. That all the proceed-
ings have been regolar and consistent with the rules of
Jaw the court are saticfied, and they entertain no doubt
that you have heen rightiully proved guilty of the

crime, whereof you were accused by the Grand fp-
guest for these Counties.
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There were circumstances attending the commissiow
of this crime, which are calculated to appal the firm«
est mind, and to humble the proudest heart when con«<
s:dermg of' what atrocities our nature 1s capable, left to
its bad passions unchecked by religion, unawed by a
sense of God’s power and justice. The malignity in
which your crime was committed, and the desperate,
unrelenting cruelty and boldness with which it was ex-
ecuted, teach: us that however exalted above other an-
imals man is when under the guidance of conscience and
yeason, he also tramscends them all in ferocity whew
roosed from those moral guards and checks.

The beast of prey, impelled by extinct, devours te
satisfy an appetite for which he can no otherwise pro-
vide. He but obeys the law of his nature ; but man, in
intellect a little lower than the angels, rebels against
his better nature; and preys upon his fellow from ha-
tred, malice, revenge, passions which if left alone in
his heart make him worse, more cruely, more ferocious
than those animals whose natuml food is blood and who
are cruel only from necessity. .

‘There is reason to believe that you had long brood-
ed over a supposed injury from the victim of your re-
venge, and meditated his destruction; having suspend-
ed it only till you could strike with sure efiect, and con-
trive the measures of escape from justice. "That you
decoyed Kennedy to your house under the pretence of
friendship and hospitality, and there, when no human
eye could witness the barbarous deed, with one deadly
blew you extinguished his life, sending this defenceless,
and io all appearance unofiending young man, one of
your own nation and kmdred to his great ac-
count, before that tribunal where you also must soon
appear to answer for this atirocious act of wickedness.
His mangled body, scorched by the fire into which the
blow had precipitated him, with ruthless hands” you
dragged down into that cave of horror, where for days
and nights before you had probably been empioyed in
preparing a grave to bury and conceal it.

Even in this dismal retreat, shut out from the blessed
light of heaven, and busied with the frightful irhuma-
tion of your murdered victim, * there were no come
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punctious visitings of conscience,” for from thence you
sallied, your crime unpunished, and its proof as you.
thought in the bowels of the earth, to plunder the lit-
tle stock of him you had murdered.

You fancied yourself safe, because your dreadful or-
gies were seen by no human eye, and you regarded not
that eye which penetrates darkness itseif, and sees all
things at all times and i1n all places.

Yet you were hurried by the worm within you from
the scene of your guilt; for the guilt of blood leaves
no-peace to the heart however hard, or the conscience
however seared. .

T'he fear of God cometh even to the wicked, when
stained with blood, and from the time of the first mur-
der to this its parallel, he who hath imbrued his hands
m innocent blood, has never been able to hold his head
erect,or wear the port of innocence. | |

You were safe from the hands of justice, in a distant
eity, ready to embark for your native country, exaualting
no doubt in the accomplishmeut of your revenge, and
in your security from punishment. Butan Almighty
hand guided your steps, and you were brought into the
presence of the only man in a great and populous town
who was able to recognize your person and deliver you
over to the law. Thus the very means adopted fox
your safety, were made the imstrument of detectiony
and you were permitied to flee only to ensure the mans-
festation of your guilt. |

Is there no Providence in this ? <

How is it that those who meditate murders do not see
that a brother’s blood will cry from the ground, and that
every step they take will multiply the proofs of theit
crime.

Years may pass away in fancied security, and the
crime be almost effaced from the memory of man, and
yvet soon or late murder will speak out, and overwhelm
its perpetrator with confusion and dismay. Andif not,
is there no hereafter? Shall he who has said thou shaly
not kill, suffer his law to be violated with impunity ?
“Isthere no punishment in store for those who destroy

Lrod’s image upon earth, and escape,the vigilance of
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human tribunals ? Vengeance is mine, saith the Lord,
I will repay. J

Iz death here the expiation of a crime of <0 deep
a die ? Reason and Revelation, answer no. The of-
fence against humab iaws is expiated by death, but
there 18 a dread account to come. The momentary
pangs of death as inflicted by our laws are no more, not
so much perhaps as were suffered by the innocent vic~
tim of revenge. There mustbe a suffering for the un-
repenting sinner beyond comparison greater.

T'hese things are set befere you, and the enormity
of your crime pourtraved thus in mercy, that if possible
they may work upon your conscience and prepare- the
way for repentance ; What then is yeurcondition, and
what the work vou have to do 7 You will probably be
gpared a few weeks of life, to make your peace with
Heaven—Whatever sins vou have committed i your
evil course, ought to lay heavy upon your mind.

Your time i8 short, your work 1s great; begin then
to set your heart in order, bow yourself to the offended
Majesty of heaven. Listento the holy men who will
effer to help yon to repentance—subdue those malig-
nant passions which have led you to this enormity,
And when you come to die, may you have a broken
and contrite spirit, that you may be a fit subject for that
grace and mercy, which are in store for the vilest of sin-
ners, if he sincerely repent ani turn from the evil of
his ways, Hear then the sentence which the law
‘awards against you.

It is, that you be removed from this bar to the prison
from whence you were taken, from thence to the
place ef execution, and that there you be hanged
by the neck, until you are dead, and may God of his
infinite goodness through the merits of the Redeemer,
have mercy upon your soul.

N. B. 'The prisoner seemed all aloue to have la-
bored under a false impression, but too prevalent, that
unless there should be positive and direct testimony of
his committing the murder, by some one who was eve
witness to the scene, he could not be convicted accor~
diﬁg te the laws ofthis COMQ&WQalth,-—This fatal mis--



35

take ought to be corrected, it is wholly without founda-
tion—most of the convictions which occur are upon
circumstantial evidence, and every one conversant with
Courts knows this sort of evidence to be competent and
legal, and that it oftentimes is as satisfactory as direet

#nd pesitive proof and somegimes more 0.



